Case No. S262634

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

\_\_\_\_\_

#### ROBERT ZOLLY, RAY MCFADDEN AND STEPHEN CLAYTON

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

#### CITY OF OAKLAND

Defendant-Respondent

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

After a Published Decision from the Court of Appeal First Appellate District Court Case No. A154986 Alameda County Superior Court Case No. RG16821376

Cedric C. Chao (SBN 76045) CHAO ADR, PC One Market Street Spear Tower, 36th Floor San Francisco, CA 94105 cedric.chao@chao-adr.com Tel: (415) 293-8088

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This appeal raises three issues regarding whether franchise fees, negotiated between local municipalities and private-sector service providers, are subject to the voter approval requirements for taxes set forth in California Constitution, article XIII C, as amended by Proposition 26 in 2010. As stated in the Petition for Review, the issues presented are:

- 1. Are franchise fees categorically exempt from the definition of "tax" as "[a] charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property," under California Constitution, article XIII C, section 1, subdivision (e), paragraph (4)<sup>1</sup>?
- 2. Is *Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara* intended to apply beyond its pass-through surcharge facts and to reach all franchise contracts following the passage of Proposition 26, particularly in light of the significant adverse financial and public health and safety consequences throughout California if *Jacks* is broadly applied?
- Are franchise fees, negotiated between local governments and private-sector service providers and paid by the franchisees,
   "imposed" by a local government on taxpayers within the

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Article XIII C, section 1, subdivision (e) is referred to herein as, "Article XIII C."

meaning of California Constitution, article XIII C, section 1, subdivision (e), and section 2?

#### INTRODUCTION

The franchise fees negotiated between Petitioner City of Oakland ("Oakland" or "City of Oakland") and its private waste-hauling and recycling franchisees are not taxes. As contractual consideration for government property interests and the right to do business with Oakland, these franchise fees are categorically exempt from the definition of "tax" under the California Constitution. The contractually-negotiated franchise fees were not "imposed" on Oakland's *ratepayers*, who bear no obligation to pay any part of those franchise fees to the City of Oakland, but were voluntarily assumed by the *franchisees* as a matter of contract.

This Court has not yet ruled on the specific question of whether franchise fees come within the ambit of an imposed "tax" as defined by Proposition 26. The "reasonable relationship to value" test this Court articulated in *Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara* (2017) 3 Cal. 5th 248 (*Jacks*), is not applicable here because *Jacks* expressly did not consider the impact of Proposition 26, its definition of "tax," or the specific categories of charges exempt from that definition – including charges, like franchise fees, for the use or purchase of government property. In addition, *Jacks*' facts are easily distinguished from the case at bar: the mandatory pass-through

surcharge at issue in *Jacks* is materially distinct from the contractually negotiated franchise fees between Oakland and its franchisees.

This legal and factual landscape – that individually negotiated franchise fees owed entirely by the franchisee are not taxes – has not been disturbed by past ballot amendments and is consistent with this Court's prior decisions and the history of franchise and tax law in California. Article XIII C's express exemption of fees for the use or purchase of government property from the definition of "tax" is consistent with the historical treatment of franchise fees as non-taxes and with the fact that neither Proposition 218 nor Proposition 26 made any mention of franchise fees. Thus, the *Zolly* appellate decision adopted an incorrect statutory construction of Article XIII C. The decision also wrongly extended *Jacks* to very different circumstances – Oakland's franchise fees as opposed to Santa Barbara's mandatory pass-through surcharge – to which its holding and reasoning do not apply. The City of Oakland respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Court of Appeal's decision and affirm the Superior Court's judgment and dismissal.

///

///

///

///

///

#### **SUMMARY OF FACTS**

- I. THE HISTORY OF FRANCHISES AND OF THE RELEVANT VOTER INITIATIVES IN CALIFORNIA
  - A. California Municipalities Have Granted Franchises to Private Entities to Provide Waste Hauling and Other Services for Over 100 Years

For well over a century, public agencies in California have exercised their constitutional and statutory authority to provide public services through private-entity franchisees. (Cal. Reduction Co. v. Sanitary Reduction Works of S.F. (1905) 199 U.S. 306, 317 (San Francisco had the power to award an exclusive franchise for garbage collection to a private company on such terms as it deemed appropriate); see also City of Glendale v. Marcus Cable Associates, LLC (2014) 231 Cal.App.4th 1359, 1371 (cable television franchise); County of Alameda v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (1997) 51 Cal. App. 4th 1691, 1694-95 (outlining history of municipal franchises); Santa Barbara County Taxpayers Assn. v. Bd. of Supervisors (1989) 209 Cal. App. 3d 940, 949 (listing examples of franchises granted by local governments); City of San Diego v. Southern Cal. Telephone Co. (1949) 92 Cal. App. 2d 793 (franchise to construct and maintain telephone poles, wires, and other telephone equipment); Ocean Park Pier Amusement Corp. v. Santa Monica (1940) 40 Cal. App. 2d 76 (franchise to maintain and operate public wharf); City of Oakland v. Great Western Power Co. (1921)

186 Cal. 570 (franchise for electric service); *City of San Diego v. Kerckhoff* (1920) 49 Cal.App. 473 (railroad franchise).)

The private franchisee typically pays a negotiated franchise fee to the public agency for the right to provide the service and to do business with the municipality. (*Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 248, 262 ("a franchise fee is the purchase price of the franchise").)

"[H]istorically, franchise fees have not been considered taxes." (*Ibid.*)

#### **B.** Voter Initiatives Limit Increases in Local Taxes

Voter amendments limiting taxation began with the passage of Proposition 13 in 1978. Proposition 13 added Article XIII A to the California Constitution, which limits the rate at which taxes based on property values may be increased. (Cal. Const., art. XIII A, §§ 1, 2.) Article XIII A also requires two-thirds voter approval for a local government to impose "special taxes." (*Id.*, § 4.) In 1986, voters enacted Proposition 62, which added Sections 53720 through 53730 to the Government Code. Those sections state that all local taxes, not just "special" local taxes, are subject to voter approval.

In 1996, California voters passed Proposition 218, which added Articles XIII C and XIII D to the California Constitution. Article XIII C incorporates the voter approval requirements of Propositions 13 and 62 by requiring voter approval of any general or special taxes "impose[d], extend[ed], or increase[d]" by any local government. (*Id.*, § 2, subds. (a),

(b), & (d).) Under Article XIII D, property-related assessments, fees, and charges imposed by local agencies for services provided must reflect only the agency's costs of providing the services. (*Id.* art. XIII D, § 6, subd. (b).) Neither Proposition 218 nor its accompanying ballot materials made any mention of franchise fees.

### C. Proposition 26 Clarifies the Definition of "Tax"

In 2010, Proposition 26 added a new definition of the word "tax" to Article XIII C of the California Constitution. (Cal. Const., art XIII C, § 1, subd. (e).) Proposition 26 defined "tax" to mean "any levy, charge, or exaction of any kind imposed by a local government." (Cal. Const., art XIII C, § 1, subd. (e).) The new definition also enumerates seven types of charges that are excluded from the definition of "tax." (*Ibid.*) One of these express exclusions from the definition of "tax" is "[a] charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property." (Cal. Const., art XIII C, § 1, subd. (e), par. (4) ("Exemption 4").)

The first three exclusions in Section 1(e) are limited by "the reasonable costs to the local government" or the "reasonable regulatory costs to a local government" in connection with the relevant benefit,

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Proposition 26 also added the same definition of "tax" to article XIII A, section 3 of the California Constitution. The only difference between the relevant portions of Article XIII A, section 3 and Article XIII C, section 1 is that the word "state" is substituted for the term "local government."

privilege, service, product, or government function provided. (Cal. Const., art XIII C § 1, subd. (e), pars. (1)-(3).) In contrast, Exemption 4 has no such limitation or qualifying language.

Section 1(e) also prescribes the burden of proof for certain issues that arise in various portions of the definition of "tax." Specifically, it provides that "[t]he local government bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that a levy, charge, or other exaction is not a tax, that the amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the governmental activity, and that the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity." (Cal. Const., art XIII C, § 1, subd. (e).)

#### II. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

In February 2012, Oakland initiated a Request for Proposal ("RFP") procurement process for new waste-hauling, mixed materials and organics, and recycling franchise contracts to take effect July 1, 2015. (Compl. ¶1, 1 JA 3; *id.* ¶¶19-20, 1 JA 7.)<sup>3</sup>

After a lengthy and challenging bidding and negotiations process, the Oakland City Council on August 27, 2014 granted Oakland's exclusive recycling services franchise to California Waste Solutions, Inc. ("CWS"),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Citations to "JA" are to the Joint Appendix submitted in the Court of Appeal.

and on September 29, 2014 granted Oakland's exclusive franchise for mixed materials & organics collection services to Waste Management of Alameda County ("WMAC"). Both contracts were contingent on the parties' further negotiation and execution of their respective contracts. (See 1 JA 323-26 ("CWS Ordinance"); 1 JA 139-42 ("WMAC Ordinance").)

The WMAC Ordinance included the following provision regarding the franchise fee at issue here:

In consideration of the special franchise right granted by the City to Franchisee to transact business, provide services, use the public street and/or other public places, and to operate a public utility for Mixed Materials and Organics collection services, Franchisee shall remit a monthly franchise fee payment to the City, as specified in the Contract. From July 1, 2015, through June 30, 2025, Franchisee shall pay the City a monthly franchise fee of Twenty-Five Million Thirty-Four Thousand Dollars (\$25,034,000) per annum, subject to annual adjustment on July 1 each year, as specified in the Contract.

(1 JA 141 at § 6.) Using similar language, the CWS Ordinance set a yearly franchise fee of \$3,000,000 subject to annual adjustment. (2 JA 326 at § 5.) The adoption of the WMAC Ordinance reduced Oakland's total franchise fees from their former levels. (Second Amended Complaint ("SAC"), ¶47, 2 JA 284.)

On June 29, 2016, the Zolly Respondents filed a lawsuit challenging the contracts' rates, franchise fees, and AB 939 fee under Proposition 218. (1 JA 1-51.) Three rounds of complaints and demurrers followed; in each

round, Oakland prevailed and the Zolly Respondents were given leave to amend. (1 JA 098-101; 1 JA 271-72; 2 JA 468-80.)

On June 29, 2017, while Oakland's second demurrer was under submission, this Court decided *Jacks*. Oakland brought *Jacks* to the Superior Court's attention. (1 JA 211-270.) On July 12, 2017, the Superior Court sustained Oakland's demurrer in full, with leave to amend. (1 JA 271-72.) Regarding Respondents' franchise fee challenge, the Superior Court agreed with Oakland that "[a] fee paid for government property interest is compensation for the use or purchase of that government asset, rather than compensation for a cost." (*Id.*) The Court further noted, quoting *Jacks*, that "historically, franchise fees have not been considered taxes, and nothing in Proposition 218 reflects an intention to treat amounts paid in exchange for property interests as taxes." (*Id.* (quoting *Jacks*, 3 Cal.5th at 262).)

The Zolly Respondents then filed their Second Amended Complaint ("SAC") seeking a declaration "that any portion of the franchise fee which does not comply with Prop. 218 as codified in the Constitution at Article XIII C is unconstitutional and void," and that such portion "must be refunded to the ratepayers unless approved by vote." (2 JA 286-87.) The Zolly Respondents also amended their challenge to the AB 939 fee, limiting it to its potential future annual increases. (*Id.*) Oakland again demurred. (2 JA 290-459.)

Following extensive oral argument, the Superior Court issued its Order Sustaining Demurrer in Part without Leave to Amend and in Part with Leave to Amend. (2 JA 460-67.) After careful analysis, including a comparison of the fundamental differences between the Oakland franchise fees and the Santa Barbara surcharge in *Jacks*, the Superior Court rejected the Zolly Respondents' challenge to Oakland's franchise fees.

The court ruled that Respondents had not "alleged circumstances sufficient to bring the franchise fees in the instant case within the narrow exception, recognized in *Jacks*, to the general principle, also set forth in Jacks, that '[h]istorically, franchise fees have not been considered taxes' and that '[n]othing in Proposition 218 reflects an intent to change the historical characterization of franchise fees, or to limit the authority of government to sell or lease its property and spend the compensation received for whatever purposes it chooses." (2 JA 473.) The Superior Court ruled that to hold otherwise "would subject municipalities to potential taxpayer-challenge lawsuits over every franchise agreement into which they enter regardless of whether the fees are imposed on the franchisee rather than the consumer and regardless of how small the amount of the franchise fees negotiated by the parties may be." (*Ibid.*) The Superior Court recognized this would be a "sweeping and burdensome change in the long-established precedents governing taxpayer challenges to franchise agreements negotiated by municipalities" not supported by *Jacks*. (*Ibid*.)

The Superior Court concluded: "This court declines to interpret the holding of the *Jacks* decision beyond its atypical facts." (*Ibid.*)

The Superior Court sustained the demurrer as to the Zolly Respondents' AB 939 fee claim with leave to amend regarding potential future annual increases. Respondents elected not to amend and instead to proceed to the Court of Appeal. The Superior Court entered a Judgment of Dismissal with Prejudice, and the Zolly Respondents appealed. (2 JA 468-80; 2 JA 496.)

The appeal briefing included amicus briefs filed by the League of California Cities in support of Oakland, and the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association ("HJTA") in support of the Zolly parties. Oakland filed an Answer to the HJTA amicus brief and a Motion for Judicial Notice of two documents: the Proposition 26 Voter Information Guide, and a Legislative Analyst's Office report regarding tax-related voter approval requirements. (See City of Oakland's February 20, 2020 motion in the Court of Appeal for judicial notice ("MJN"), Exs. 1-2.)<sup>4</sup>

Following oral argument, the Court of Appeal issued a published opinion reversing the Superior Court's order dismissing the franchise fee

record transmitted to this Court under Cal. Rule Ct. 8.512(a).

18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeal granted the motion, pursuant to Evidence Code section 452, subdivision (c), in its April 17, 2020 Order Modifying Opinion and Denying Rehearing. Oakland's Motion for Judicial Notice is part of the

challenge, but affirming the dismissal of Respondents' challenge to the annual AB 939 fee increase. Oakland filed a Petition for Rehearing, noting that the Court of Appeal opinion appeared to have overlooked Oakland's Answer to the HJTA amicus brief and accompanying Motion for Judicial Notice. The Court of Appeal issued an order denying rehearing but granting Oakland's Motion for Judicial Notice. (See Appendix A to June 8, 2020 Petition for Review.)

On June 8, 2020, Oakland filed with this Court a Petition for Review. This Court granted review on August 12, 2020.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews *de novo* decisions concerning the meaning of constitutional provisions, such as California Constitution, article XIII C, and the constitutionality of local government fees. (See *Silicon Valley Taxpayers Assn., Inc. v. Santa Clara County Open Space Authority* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 431, 448-450; *Greene v. Marin County Flood Control & Water Conservation Dist.* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 277, 287; see also *Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 866, 873-74 ("whether impositions are 'taxes' or 'fees' is a question of law for the appellate courts to decide on independent review of the facts").)

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The AB 939 ruling is not at issue in this appeal.

This Court likewise reviews *de novo* the legal sufficiency of a complaint on an order sustaining a demurrer. (*T.H. v. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp.* (2017) 4 Cal.5th 145, 162.)

#### **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

I. Franchise Fees Are Categorically Exempt from the Definition of "Tax" under Article XIII C as Amended by Proposition 26, and Thus Are Not Subject to Any Requirement That They Be Reasonably Related to the Value of the Franchise

This appeal presents the question whether franchise fees are exempt from the definition of "tax" under Article XIII C. That question was expressly reserved in *Jacks*, which did not analyze franchise fees under Proposition 26's amended definition of "tax." The plain language of Article XIII C, as amended by Proposition 26, categorically exempts franchise fees from the definition of "tax" and, thus, voter approval requirements.

A. Charges and Fees Do Not Require Voter Approval and Are Not Limited by Any "Reasonability" Test If They Are Not a "Tax"

The constitutional provisions requiring voter approval before municipal governments can levy certain charges only apply to charges that constitute a "tax." (See *supra* at I.C; Cal. Const., art XIII C, § 1, subd. (e).) A charge that is exempt from the definition of "tax" is therefore *not* a tax and not subject to voter approval. Likewise, a charge that is not a "tax" is exempt from any constitutional requirement that it not exceed the "reasonable cost" of the activity for which the fee is imposed. (*Ibid.*)

B. Article XIII C, Exemption 4's Omission of Any Express Reasonability Requirement Is Clear and Unambiguous, and the Zolly Appellate Decision's Contrary Interpretation Flouts Long-Standing Principles of Statutory Construction

As this Court acknowledged in *Jacks*, Article XIII C, Exemption 4 applies to amounts paid in exchange for government property interests, such as franchise fees. (*Jacks*, 3 Cal.5th at 262-63 ("Although Proposition 26 strengthened restrictions on taxation by expansively defining 'tax' as 'any levy, charge, or exaction of any kind imposed by a local government' [citation], it provided an exception for '[a] charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property.""); see also *Zolly v. City of Oakland* (2020) 47 Cal. App. 5th 73, 86 (*Zolly*) ("Relevant here is the fourth exemption, which applies to 'A charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property."").)

The language of Exemption 4 is clear and unambiguous: any charge "imposed for entrance to or use of local government property," or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property," is not a "tax" and therefore is exempt from the voter approval requirements of Article XIII C, section 2. (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e), par. (4); see also MJN, Ex. 1, 2014 Legislative Analyst's Office Report at 3, 5.) There is no limitation on the scope of this exemption. In particular, this exemption contains no requirement that the exempted charge must not exceed, or must

be related to, the reasonable cost or value of the property rights conveyed. (*Id.* at 3.)

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