IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S262634

**Robert Zolly, Ray McFadden,
and Stephen Clayton**
Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

City of Oakland
Defendant and Respondent

Answer Brief on the Merits

After a Published Decision from the Court of Appeal
First Appellate District, Division One, Appeal No. A154986
Alameda County Superior Court Case No. RG16821376

Zacks, Freedman & Patterson, PC

Andrew M. Zacks, No. 147794
253 Montgomery St., Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94104
(415) 956-8100
az@zfplaw.com

Katz Appellate Law PC

Paul J. Katz, No. 243942
484 Lake Park Ave. #603
Oakland, CA 94610
(510) 920-0543
paul@katzappellatelaw.com

Attorneys for Appellants

QUESTION PRESENTED

Must city franchise fees that are subject to California Constitution, article XIII C, be reasonably related to the value of the franchise?

INTRODUCTION

Under *Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 248 (*Jacks*), article XIII C's original version limited a franchise fee to a reasonable estimate of the franchise value. And any fee amount in excess of that value was actually a tax. Otherwise, cities would continue to inflate franchise fees to make up for limits on their taxing authority. Then Proposition 26 amended article XIII C to make it even tougher for cities to hide taxes within ostensible fees. According to Oakland, though, that amendment actually *erased* article XIII C's franchise-fee limit.

But the voters passed Proposition 26 to close loopholes—not to open a limitless one. Article XIII C as amended lists seven types of charges that it excepts from the definition of “tax.” And each excepted charge is limited. Whereas some limits are found within the exceptions themselves, others are found within background constitutional principles.

The fourth exception at issue here, which covers a “charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property,” is limited like the other six exceptions. The fourth exception uses the phrase “imposed for” to specify that a covered charge must be imposed *because of* the use of city property and not unrelated revenue generation. So, when the evidence shows that a franchise fee exceeds any reasonable estimate of the franchise value, it reveals that the excessive portion is not imposed because of the use of city property but is actually a hidden tax—the very evil Proposition 26 sought to eliminate. Thus, article XIII C's current version keeps the prior version's franchise-fee limit.

Oakland's contrary textual arguments are not persuasive. It contends that the fourth exception's language excepts all charges that cities denominate as franchise fees. But the exception's phrase “imposed for” makes the exception ambiguous. And even if the exception were clear in isolation, Proposition 26's history, statements of intent, and other exceptions to the definition of “tax” would create ambiguity. Oakland also notes that the first three exceptions are

expressly limited to a city's reasonable costs, whereas the fourth exception is not. Yet the fact that a franchise fee is payment for a city asset accounts for this difference. Since each excepted charge is different, the exceptions use different wording to prevent hidden fees.

Because the fourth exception is not clear in context, Oakland must find support for its interpretation in Proposition 26's ballot materials. But those materials emphasized that Proposition 26 would stamp out hidden taxes wherever they are hiding—including within city-imposed charges on utility services like the ostensible franchise fees here. Oakland incorrectly contends that the materials were silent as to franchise fees. But even if that were true, it would support the ratepayers' view here that Proposition 26 did not affect article XIII C's preexisting limit on franchise fees.

This court should affirm the Court of Appeal's opinion.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Oakland's Zero Waste RFP process goes off the rails.

Oakland had exclusive franchise agreements for garbage collection and disposal (with Waste Management of Alameda County (WMAC)) and for recycling collection (with California Waste Solutions (CWS)). (2 JA 277:7–9, 397.) Those agreements were set to expire at the end of June 2015. (2 JA 277:20–22, 397.) So, in the early part of 2012, Oakland established a competitive-bidding process to select companies that would perform those garbage and recycling services (as well as a new, compostable-collection service) starting in July 2015. (2 JA 277:9–13, 397.) That process was part of Oakland's "ambitious 'Zero Waste' plan" to greatly reduce landfill deposits. (2 JA 397:9–11, 396.) Oakland tasked its Public Works Department (or the "agency") to execute the request-for-proposal (RFP) and contracting phases of the process. (2 JA 276:26–277:1.)

The RFPs solicited proposals for three exclusive franchises: garbage-and-compostable collection (called "mixed material and organics" or MM&O), garbage disposal, and recycling. (2 JA 277:11–13, 397.) In an April 2012 report, the agency cautioned the city council that, to " 'strike a balance between securing economic benefits for Oakland and achieving the best customer rates for the services, it must guard against unintentional bias or infeasible requirements that would suppress competition.' " (2 JA 278:15–20.) Yet the city council directed that proposals had to comply with 32 policy directives, including that "franchise contracts include provisions on city policies for equal benefits, living wage, and campaign contributions; ... inclusion to the maximum extent possible of Oakland local business and employment of Oakland residents; ... and [a] requirement for a customer service call center located in Alameda County." (2 JA 278:5–14.) These policy directives "decreased the value of the franchises awarded because they constitute additional franchise expenses that do not generate revenue." (2 JA 278:21–23.)

Over the next three years, Oakland engaged in a “tortured procurement process.” (2 JA 278:25–279:4.) At the outset, Oakland’s stringent RFP requirements precluded a “competitive bidding environment.” (2 JA 279:5–6.) “Initially, six potential bidders expressed interest for garbage and recycling collection services, and five potential bidders for landfill disposal services.” (2 JA 279:6–8.) But in January 2013, only the incumbent providers (WMAC and CWS) had submitted proposals for the garbage-and-compostable collection and recycling-collection franchises. (2 JA 279:8–9, 399.) And only WMAC submitted a proposal for the garbage-disposal franchise. (2 JA 279:8–9, 399.) Then the agency was overwhelmed by the task of evaluating those proposals and negotiating with WMAC and CWS pursuant to the newly minted Zero Waste framework. (2 JA 279:11–16.) In May 2014, about 16 months after the proposals were submitted, the agency recommended that Oakland “award all three franchise contracts to WMAC” because that provider’s “bundled rate structure provided the lowest overall rate option for Oakland residents.” (2 JA 279:17–19.) However, the city council rejected that recommendation, directed the agency to solicit “best and final offers” from CWS and WMAC, and “allowed CWS to expand its bid to include” garbage collection. (2 JA 279:19–22.)

When the agency received each provider’s best and final offers a month later, “the contracting process started to ... fall apart.” (2 JA 279:24–26.) While the agency had taken 16 months to evaluate and negotiate the original proposals, it had only six weeks to evaluate and negotiate these new proposals—including CWS’s 700+ page proposal that now also sought the garbage-disposal franchise. (2 JA 279:27–280:3.) The agency did not have the resources to adequately evaluate and negotiate the new proposals in that short time frame. (2 JA 280:3–5.) The agency again recommended WMAC for all three franchises because they “‘would provide the best value for the Oakland ratepayers and the best customer experience, while meeting [Oakland’s] Zero Waste Goal.’” (2 JA 280:6–10.) The agency also

warned that CWS lacked the needed infrastructure to continue uninterrupted service upon the expiration of the current franchise agreement. (2 JA 280:10–12.) Yet, again, the city council rejected the agency’s recommendation and instead awarded all three franchises to CWS. (2 JA 280:13–15.)

After WMAC challenges defects in the RFP process, Oakland shifts two of the franchises to WMAC.

In August 2014, WMAC sued Oakland and CWS for RFP-process irregularities and sought to undo the three franchise contracts. (2 JA 280:16–18.) WMAC also “began collecting signatures for a ballot referendum that asked city voters to invalidate the ordinances awarding the franchise contracts to CWS.” (2 JA 280:18–20.) WMAC and CWS settled their dispute a month later, agreeing to shift the garbage-and-compostable-collection and garbage-disposal franchises to WMAC, and to extend CWS’s recycling franchise from 10 years to 20. (2 JA 280:21–281:8.) The settlement was contingent on Oakland’s amending the franchise ordinances accordingly, which Oakland did quickly. (2 JA 280:28–281:8.) Rather than being the product of a transparent, competitive-bidding process, the franchise agreements resulted from rushed, closed-door negotiations that only marginally involved Oakland. (2 JA 278:25–279:4, 281:9–14, 401.)

Under the franchise agreements, Oakland collects over \$28 million annually from rates paid by its residents to the franchisees.

WMAC agreed to pay Oakland \$25,034,000 for the exclusive right to collect garbage and compost from the city’s residents and businesses. (2 JA 281:15–20, 331, 344.) Similarly, CWS agreed to pay Oakland \$3,000,000 for the exclusive right to collect recycling from the city’s residents and business. (2 JA 281:21–25, 326, 351.) The Oakland ordinances authorizing these charges characterized WMAC and CWS as “public utilit[ies].” (2 JA 326, 331.) These charges (called “franchise

fees” by the contracting parties) are subject to increases in subsequent years, according to an inflation index. (2 JA 326, 331, 344, 351.)

Oakland, WMAC, and CWS contemplate that WMAC and CWS will pay their respective charges from the rates they collect from Oaklanders. (2 JA 281:26–282:2, 404.)

Oakland redesignates \$3.24 million of WMAC’s franchise fee to be an AB 939 fee instead.

In December 2014, Oakland adopted an ordinance that redesignated \$3.24 million of WMAC’s franchise fee as an AB 939 fee instead.¹ (2 JA 286:12–14, 337.) That amount is subject to automatic increases in subsequent years, according to an inflation index. (2 JA 384:1–3, 337.) But if any part of the AB 939 were to be invalidated, that same amount would be added back to WMAC’s franchise fee. (2 JA 286:14–16, 337.)

Oaklanders’ waste-collection rates skyrocket in part because of the charges that Oakland collects from WMAC and CWS.

The supposed franchise fees have caused WMAC and CWS to impose higher rates on their Oakland customers. (2 JA 281:26–282:2, 286:23–24.) The franchise fees “amounted to nearly 30% of some ratepayers’ bills.” (2 JA 282:1–2.) The new franchise agreements particularly impact owners of multi-family properties such as appellants Zolly, McFadden, and Clayton (sometimes referred to in this brief as the “ratepayers”) who pay their tenants’ associated bills. (2 JA 275:28–276:10.) Appellants’ associated bills for their multi-family properties increased between about 80% and 155% from their amounts prior to the new franchise agreements. (2 JA 275:28–276:9.) The

¹ AB 939 is a state law called the Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989 that requires cities to develop and implement integrated waste management programs. To pay for these programs, a section of that law (codified at Pub. Resources Code, § 41901) permits cities to impose fees on their residents.

supposed franchise fees account for part of those increases.
(2 JA 281:26–282:2, 286:23–24, 404.)

An Alameda County grand jury concludes that Oakland bungled the RFP process and that WMAC’s franchise fee is disproportionately high.

Due to “numerous citizen complaints,” an Alameda County grand jury “undertook a comprehensive investigation related to the solicitation and award of [Oakland’s] Zero Waste contracts.” (2 JA 396.) The grand jury “reviewed thousands of pages of documents,” including the RFPs, the submitted proposals, agency reports, city council meeting minutes, the memorandum of understanding between WMAC and CWS settling their litigation, and “the final executed franchise contracts awarded to WMAC and CWS.” (2 JA 398.) They also examined “hundreds of pages” of rate sheets submitted by WMAC and CWS, and similar rate sheets from surrounding communities. (2 JA 398.)

From that exhaustive review, the grand jury issued a final report on the flawed RFP process described above.² (2 JA 395–406.) The grand jury also concluded that the “franchise fees paid to the city of Oakland by WMAC under its contract are disproportionately higher than those [paid to] surrounding government entities.” (2 JA 404.) The grand jury was “troubled that these fees ... were not transparently reported or

² The trial court and Court of Appeal denied appellants’ requests for judicial notice of the grand jury’s final report as immaterial. (2 JA 477:6–8; *Zolly v. City of Oakland* (2020) 47 Cal.App.5th 73, 78, fn. 2 (*Zolly*.) Yet the report is relevant as to whether appellants adequately pleaded that the supposed franchise fees here are inflated—the sole criterion in deciding whether the fees are actually taxes. (See *Evans v. City of Berkeley* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1, 5 [stating that matters subject to judicial notice may be treated by the reviewing court as having been pleaded in the complaint].) So appellants are filing a new request for judicial notice in this court, which appends the same grand jury report. For ease of reference, though, this brief cites the copy of the report included in the joint appendix.

openly discussed with the public at any time during the contracting process.” (2 JA 404.)

Appellants seek a declaratory judgment that the supposed franchise fees are partly disguised taxes, but the superior court dismisses the case because the fees are not imposed directly on ratepayers.

Appellants sued Oakland, contending that the franchise fees and the AB 939 fee are invalid. (1 JA 1–3.) After the hearing on Oakland’s demurrer to the first amended complaint and while that demurrer was submitted to the superior court, this court issued its *Jacks* opinion. (1 JA 211–270.) In sustaining Oakland’s demurrer to the first amended complaint, the superior court granted appellants leave to file a second amended complaint alleging facts that state a claim under *Jacks*. (1 JA 271.)

Accordingly, appellants’ second amended complaint alleges that “[n]either of the franchise fees bears a reasonable relationship to the value received from the government and they are not based on the value of the franchises conveyed in order to come within the rationale for their impositions without approval of the voters.” (2 JA 284:10–13; see also 2 JA 285:24–27.) Thus, the pleading seeks a declaration that the supposed fees are actually disguised taxes that violate article XIII C.³ (2 JA 287:5–7.)

The superior court, however, sustained Oakland’s demurrer to the second amended complaint. (2 JA 460:24–461:7.) The court distinguished *Jacks* because, unlike the franchise fees here, the fee in that case was imposed directly on the public utility. (2 JA 462:7–19.)

³ The complaint also sought declaratory relief about the validity of the AB 939 fee. (2 JA 287:8–13.) But that claim, which was ultimately dismissed, is not germane to the question presented here.

The Court of Appeal reverses the sustaining of the demurrer as to the franchise-fee claim because the amended version of article XIII C keeps the original version’s franchise-fee limit.

The Court of Appeal reversed the sustaining of the demurrer as to the validity of the franchise fees. (*Zolly, supra*, 47 Cal.App.5th at p. 92.) The court disagreed with Oakland’s argument that *Jacks* did not apply because the ratepayers here pay the franchise fees indirectly as part of their rates instead of directly as a line item on their utility bills. (*Id.* at p. 85.) Instead, *Jacks*’ holding applies to all charges that are nominally franchise fees. (*Ibid.*) The court also held the reasonable-relationship test for franchise fees still applies, even though article XIII C has been amended by Proposition 26. (*Id.* at p. 88.) Based on the initiative’s ballot materials, the court found that the voters passed Proposition 26 to expand voter-approval limits on cities. (*Ibid.*) For a similar reason, the court rejected Oakland’s argument that the franchise fees are not taxes because they are not “imposed” on ratepayers. (*Id.* at pp. 88–89.)

This court then granted Oakland’s petition for review as to the franchise-fee issue. But this court denied requests to depublish the Court of Appeal’s opinion.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. **The ratepayers have standing to seek declaratory relief because the alleged taxes cost them money.**

Near the end of its brief, Oakland buries a one-page argument that the ratepayers lack standing because they do not pay the franchise fees directly.⁴ (OB 52–53.) This court ordinarily reviews standing de novo. (*People for Ethical Operation of Prosecutors and Law Enforcement v. Spitzer* (2020) 53 Cal.App.5th 391, 398.) And in any event, there is no decision to review here because Oakland did not raise standing below.

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